IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,743

DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

FILED

SEP 7 1990

RENK. SUPPLEME COURT

By Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773 28 East Broadway Village Drive Columbia, Missouri 65201 (314) 442-3727

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the early morning hours of November 5, 1983, Karen Fritz awoke to find an hysterical young man at her door, "crying" and "very upset," telling her that her grandmother was dead (R. 472). David Johnston was that young man. He had also called the police and reported that he had found his "grandmother" murdered (R. 510). Several police officers arrived at the scene and each reported finding Mr. Johnston "hysterical", "very upset," and apparently under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol (R. 513, 492, 566). Mr. Johnston was given <u>Miranda</u> warnings at the scene, but "he said he didn't want to talk to us at that time" (R. 496). Mr. Johnston was arrested on suspicion of murder. In the ensuing three months, the police obtained numerous statements from Mr. Johnston, all asserting his innocence.¹

¹A full reading of the transcripts of the statements is encouraged since it will show the delusional thinking of Mr. Johnston throughout the pretrial process. A very brief example follows:

Q: Are you a very religious person?

A: I'm a Baptist, and, ah I always respect myself and go to church on Sunday, pay my tithe and respect myself, cause, ah, the way things going right now it looks like this world fixing to end, you know, the war, Reagan, and that big old ship from out of New Jersey going over there to Beirut and stuff, airplanes about ready to kick off, and damn, (inaudible). I seen Christ the other day in the newspaper.

Q: Pardon me?

A: I saw a figment of Jesus Christ in the newspaper the other day, you know, like ah, (inaudible) showed his hair, mustache and everything, but, ah.

Q: You mean you saw a picture or you just saw a figure transposed or interposed on the . . .

A: Interposed in the newspaper, you know, and, ah, like I told Clyde I wouldn't kill Mary. I can be stoned, messed up in my head and I wouldn't kill nobody.

Q: You would be able to do this and not remember?

A: No, that's wrong, see, ah, Penny told me that, ah, I made something like a comment that if anybody tried to get between me and Pat, I would kill them, you know, and like I told Penny, wow, man, I can't remember saying (continued...) In December of 1983, Mr. Johnston was indicted by an Orange County Grand Jury for the first-degree murder of Mary Hammond. The Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent Mr. Johnston. Clyde Wolfe and Christine Warren were assigned to the case. Throughout their representation of Mr. Johnston, both Mr. Wolfe and Ms. Warren had difficulty dealing with Mr. Johnston and had filed a "Notice of Intent to Rely Upon the Defense of Insanity" (R. 1949) and a "Motion for Appointment of Expert" (R. 2006). Mr. Johnston had been previously repeatedly committed to a mental hospital in the state of Louisiana and found incompetent to stand trial in the State of Kansas (T. 347-50). During his incarceration, Mr. Johnston gave several statements to the police, none of which counsel ever challenged even though counsel were aware of some of Mr. Johnston's

(Transcript of 12/19/83 statement, pages 8 and 9).

¹(...continued)

anything like that. If I say anything like that towards you or anybody else, I'm terribly sorry, you know. She say you are sorry, you tell me you're sorry, but you can't remember cause you was high, you just too damned stoned, and that's when I kissed Pat and headed home, you know, and I wasn't quite done in the 7-11, maybe 10 or 15 minutes and I went there to the old _, stopped there on the sidewalk, cut to the short cut through the park, got on Bumby, started heading home, and when I stopped there at the corner of Ridgewood and Broadway, looking around, just, you know, working. That's when I noticed Mary Hammond's kitchen light, you know, and ah, got off the bike, come off the bike up to the driveway, I remember walking over to her lawn and going up to the window, there was a hole in the top part of it, so I went to the door, door was already open. I can't remember, Mr. Mundy, if I knocked or not, I do remember going in, you know, and I noticed the house was all a total wreck, the living room lamps overturned, and the dog was right there at the door when I went in, you know, and my first thing I did, I looked at the kitchen counter and the kitchen sink. I seen the glass everywhere and the dirt and something like a cement looking rock and I think it's laying on the counter, I ain't for sure, you know, and then the next thing I remember I opened up the refrigerator, got a coke, and throwed it into my systems and I seen the dog down on the floor, and I looked down and petted him, you know, and I got them Kiwi crackers down off the top of the refrigerator, took them into the dining room threw them on the floor. I looked at the living room and noticed it was a total wreck, and I remember that I started yelling for Mary, but I got no response, and this, this, this, you know, I can't remember, you say that I did or I didn't throw out throw away this door, dog cages, and I remember going upstairs and turning on Mary's light, right, and seeing all the blood up on the wall, well I think it was all over the wall, bedstand, the telephone and I went over, held Mary to my right arm, alright, I, I just want want you do me one favor, right now, turn the tape off.

long history of mental illness and evidence indicating he was under the influence of intoxicants at the time of his arrest.

After cursory evaluations performed by Drs. Pollack and Wilder (evaluations which only addressed competency to stand trial and sanity at the time of the offense) Mr. Johnston was found "competent" to proceed to trial, was tried, convicted and sentenced to death.² Neither Pollack nor Wilder conducted any psychological testing. Their examinations consisted of forty five minute interviews of Mr. Johnston. After concluding Mr. Johnston was competent, the doctors received some of the Louisiana records regarding Mr. Johnston's numerous commitments. The doctors did not have any of the records from Kansas finding Mr. Johnston incompetent to stand trial. The doctors did not talk to defense counsel and did not have the statements Mr. Johnston made to the police, which Dr. Wilder has now conceded contained evidence of delusional thought processes.

The jury returned an eight to four advisory recommendation of death. On June 1, 1984, the court imposed a sentence of death. Mr. Johnston's appeal of his conviction and sentence were denied. <u>Johnston v. State</u>, 497 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986).

In November of 1988 a death warrant was signed against Mr. Johnston by Governor Martinez. A Rule 3.850 motion was then filed in the circuit court. Judge Powell stayed the execution and ordered evidentiary resolution of the several claims involving ineffective assistance of trial counsel, inadequate mental health evaluations and questions about Mr. Johnston's competence. The evidentiary hearing was held in June of 1989. At the commencement of the hearing, an incoherent David Johnston was removed from the courtroom and was

²Drs. Pollack and Wilder were never asked to evaluate Mr. Johnston's competency to waive his fifth and sixth amendment rights nor were they asked to evaluate for mitigating circumstances. No psychological testimony was presented in the penalty phase proceeding by the defense despite Mr. Johnston's longstanding diagnosis of schizophrenia.

placed in a holding cell. For some time thereafter, Mr. Johnston's rantings could be heard in the nearby courtroom. When Mr. Johnston quieted down, he was returned to the courtroom. Testimony was heard from trial counsel and from mental health experts. The defense attorneys testified Mr. Johnston was incompetent at time of trial. Mr. Johnston also presented the testimony of a psychiatrist and a psychologist who agreed Mr. Johnston was incompetent to stand trial. Evidence was also received regarding the presence of substantial mental health mitigation which had not been presented to the jury or the court during guilt-innocence phase or the penalty phase of trial. On August 16, 1989, Judge Powell denied all relief, and this appeal was taken.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Johnston was not competent to stand trial. He was a delusional schizophrenic who was unable to assist counsel in any meaningful fashion and was unable to comprehend what was at stake in the proceedings. The two mental health examiners at trial were unaware of Mr. Johnston's delusions. Without this evidence of delusions, the opinions based on forty five minute conversations were invalid. One of these two mental health examiners was called at the 3.850 hearing and he conceded that, in light of the evidence of delusions, more testing and examination was necessary in order to determine whether Mr. Johnston was competent. A new trial must be ordered.

II. Mr. Johnston's pre-trial mental health examinations was inadequate. The mental examiners had no background information. Nothing was done beyond a forty five minute conversation with Mr. Johnston. Counsel failed to provide the examiners with the numerous red flag indicators of delusions which reflected Mr. Johnston's incompetence and schizophrenia. Further the examiners were not asked to evaluate all the mental health issues in the case. They did not consider whether mitigation was present. As a result, Mr. Johnston's judgment and sentence must be reversed.

III. Mr. Johnston was deprived effective assistance at the penalty phase of his capital trial. No mental health testimony was presented by the defense describing Mr. Johnston's schizophrenia. Counsel conducted inadequate investigation. They were unprepared, and as a result Mr. Johnston was sentenced to death.

IV. Mr. Johnston's mental impairment precluded him from comprehending and validly waiving his <u>Miranda</u> rights and his Sixth Amendment rights when he made statements to the police. Trial counsel was ineffective in not litigating this issue.

V. Defense counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate Mr. Johnston's alcohol and drug abuse as a defense which rendered him incapable of forming specific intent.

VI. Mr. Johnston was deprived effective assistance of counsel at the guilt-innocence phase of his capital trial.

VII. The jury was inadequately instructed regarding the elements of the aggravating circumstance heinous, atrocious or cruel.

VIII. Mr. Johnston's death sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance. The jury received inadequate instructions regarding this aggravator.

IX. Mr. Johnston's eighth amendment rights were violated by improper consideration of victim impact information.

X. Mr. Johnston's eighth amendment rights were violated when the sentencing judge refused to find and consider mitigation clearly set out in the record.

XI. Mr. Johnston's jury was improperly instructed to shift the burden of proof to Mr. Johnston on the issue of whether to sentence him to life or death.

XII. Mr. Johnston's jury's sense of responsibility was improperly diminished by the judge's instructions and arguments of the prosecutor.

XIII. The jury was improperly allowed to consider a prior conviction and counsel was ineffective in failing to adequately litigate this issue.

ARGUMENT I

MR. JOHNSTON'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE ABROGATED BECAUSE HE WAS FORCED TO UNDERGO CRIMINAL JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ALTHOUGH HE WAS NOT LEGALLY COMPETENT.

David E. Johnston was not competent to undergo the 1984 proceedings which resulted in his capital conviction and sentence of death. A wealth of evidence was available then which would have revealed his lack of competency. On January 3, 1984, Mr. Johnston's attorney filed a "Motion for Psychiatric Evaluation" pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. F. 3.210 in order to "specifically address [Mr. Johnston's] competency to stand trial. . . ." in accordance with Rules 3.211 (a)(1)(i-xi), 3.216(a) (R. 1950-51). Two psychiatrists, Dr. Robert Pollack and Dr. J. Lloyd Wilder, were appointed to evaluate Mr. Johnston (R. 1953-54). On January 3, 1984, counsel also filed a "Notice Of Intent To Rely Upon The Defense Of Insanity" (R. 1949). In that motion counsel wrote that "the particular nature of the insanity relied upon as a defense is: (1) schizophrenia" (R. 1949). Ten days later counsel filed a second "Motion For Appointment Of Expert" pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. F. 3.216(a). This motion provided in part:

1. That the undersigned has reason to believe that the Defendant may be incompetent to stand trial or that he may have been insane at the time of the alleged offense for the following reasons:

(a) The Defendant has made statements which indicate the Defendant might be suffering from mental and emotional disturbances which may prevent Defendant from adequately assisting counsel in its preparation of Defendant's defense.

The Defendant's conduct has been such that it indicates that Defendant might be suffering from mental and emotional disturbances which may prevent Defendant from adequately assisting counsel in its preparation of Defendant's defense.

(R. 2006).

A hearing was held on March 2, 1984, on the matter of Mr. Johnston's competency to stand trial (R. 1031-64). Both court appointed experts opined

that Mr. Johnston was competent (R. 1037 [Pollack]), (R. 1050-51 [Wilder]). However, neither mental health expert spent more than an hour with Mr. Johnston, nor was any psychological testing conducted. They were unaware of the fact that Mr. Johnston was receiving social security benefits for his mental disability. They did not receive or review Mr. Johnston's statements to the police which contained indicia of delusions. They did not talk to defense counsel regarding the many problems counsel was having with Mr. Johnston.

At the evidentiary hearing on the Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Wolfe, trial counsel on Mr. Johnston's case, stated:

I always felt David was very suspicious and guarded in his communication.

. . .

It was a changing rapport [with David]. Some days he would be suspicious of me, Miss Warren, or Mr. Durocher or anybody from our office. Some days he would be easy to get along with, easy to talk to. Some days he would not want to talk about anything except tangential issues that were pressing on his mind.

(T. 22).

From talking with him, talking with Mr. Johnston, you had the suspicion that he had some mental problems. And he had mentioned another attorney here in Orlando who was representing him or helping him on certain things, an attorney by the name of Ken Cotter. I contacted Ken Cotter and he advised me that David was receiving a S.S.I. check on a regular basis because he had some psychiatric history that prohibited him from holding down employment.

And some of the information early on that we were able to get about his mental status we got from Mr. Cotter. And then later, spending time with David, just to discuss with him, we found out that he had, in Louisiana, some mental history, mental problems, histories there.

(T. 24).

Ms. Warren, co-counsel for Mr. Johnston during trial, described her relationship with David:

I can't tell you exactly when I first met him. I know that I had numerous meetings with him. Numerous telephone conversations with him. I believe I received one or two letters from him.

There came a time during the course of my representation of him where I talked with him on almost a daily basis. But I can't say exactly when it was that I first met him.

I do know that from the beginning of the representation, it was clear to me that he had some serious psychiatric problems.

Q. How did you come to understand that?

A. I could tell him something, and fifteen minutes later, it would become clear that he did not understand what I had said. In fact, really couldn't -- I don't know if remember is the right word, but did not incorporate it into his consciousness. He made bizarre comments and statements. Was very childish; very demanding.

It was -- and then, of course, he had a, as the case developed, you know we learned that he had been committed and had received psychiatric treatment earlier.

I had, at that point, I had been practicing law about four years. One of the first cases that I ever became involved in was a first-degree murder case. In fact, the day after I was sworn in, I appeared for initial appearances for that particular person where we, where the insanity defense was a defense.

I have family members who are schizophrenic and I have had a lot of, had had even then, a fair amount of experience with clients who had psychiatric problems. And he just seemed to me to have severe mental problems.

(T. 143-145).

Both attorneys related their recollection of what occurred with regard to their request for a competency evaluation and both attorneys expressed their concern over the type of evaluation they felt they would get in the ninth circuit. Mr. Wolfe reported:

[The psychiatrists in the ninth circuit] would not give tests. They would go to the jail, talk to someone for a few minutes and then you would get a written report.

(T. 37).

Ms. Warren recalled:

The psychiatrists [in this case] were willing to render an opinion without [a psychological] evaluation.

(T. 149).

Clyde [Wolfe] and I both felt that he [David] was continually incompetent.

(T. 150).

When asked to elaborate her answer in light of Rule 3.211, she stated:

There are various standards under the rules for determining competency. If you looked at each one of those standards <u>superficially</u>, I think David probably fit within each one of those standards and <u>was competent superficially</u>. But if you looked at them <u>on a deeper level</u>, and I think -- and <u>if you spent time with him</u> <u>talking with him, dealing with him on an in-depth basis, you would</u> realize, anyone I think would realize that he was not competent.

It was just that we couldn't get a psychiatrist who was willing to do that, nor could we get him in the position in a hearing, in front of the judge, where he would talk to the judge the way he talked to us. I mean, you know, he was always able to pull himself together for whatever hearings that there were.

It would -- we would go up and talk with him the night before or two days before, and he would be rambling incoherent. Talking about how far superior he was to everybody else. And refusing to listen to anything that we had to say, imperialously ordering us to leave the room. And then as we are getting up to leave, start talking you know, pulling us back in.

* * *

Q. In, in that regard, did he understand who were his adversaries and who were his friends as far as the criminal process was concerned?

A. I don't think he did until the trial, itself. And the reason I say that is Clyde and I spoke with him many times about the possibility of the death penalty. And that the fact that the police, that he should not be talking to the police. He should not be giving statements to them.

That -- I believe there is even a statement where he made to them in, where he said, Clyde tells me you're the enemy, but I want to talk to you anyway.

It wasn't until, I think the day before trial or the very middle of the trial, we went up to talk with David at night, and he said, in a panic, they're trying to kill me. Do you know that they're trying to kill me. Does President Reagan know they're trying to kill me. This is terrible. President Reagan should be told these people are trying to kill me.

And it was like that was the very first time that it had ever actually connected in his mind that he was facing the death penalty and that he was in a very serious situation. We told him over and over and over again, and it just, as I said, you tell him something, and fifteen minutes later, it was as if it just didn't mean anything to him at all.

(T. 150-155)(emphasis added).

Dr. Pat Fleming, a psychologist that conducted a competent evaluation of Mr. Johnston in 1988 (see Argument II) testified at the 3.850 hearing and was asked, among other things, her opinion about Mr. Johnston's competency at time of trial. Dr. Fleming described what occurred during her evaluation that led to her conclusion:

A. Mr. Johnston, I said I saw him for seven hours. The first was to get a flavor of his functioning, to ask him questions, to -and he initially was, was intact. He could answer the questions relatively well. By the time that the day progressed, he became increasingly agitated. He was unable to track the conversation. I estimate that after the first hour, he had increased difficulty.

He has difficulty understanding information. This is most difficult to identify because it found that he has, he showed aphasic symptoms, which means the language disorders, which is characteristic of brain damaged people. But also the loosening of associations or the ability to track information, that's characteristic of schizophrenics. He showed perseveration. He showed evidence of delusions and hallucinations which had been documented in the previous documents. He now hears music. I talked about this hallucinations.

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