#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 74,743

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

further reasoned that trial counsel cannot be held to be ineffective by failing to anticipate the holdings of <u>Booth</u> and <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1988). Since Johnston has not briefed this claim in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on appeal from the denial of post conviction relief, that particular argument is waived. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1990).

This claim should be considered procedurally barred since the crux of it was raised on direct appeal. Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886, 888 (Fla. 1984); Meek v. State, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980). All tangential arguments should have been voiced at trial and raised on direct appeal, as well, and are now procedurally barred. A Booth claim must be preserved by a timely objection before the claim will be considered in a collateral proceeding. Roberts v. State, 15 F.L.W. S450, S452 (Fla. Sept. 6, 1990); Jackson v. Dugger, 547 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1989); Eutzy v. State, 541 So.2d 1143, 1145 (Fla. 1989).

No relief would be warranted even if this claim could be considered. A jury cannot be expected to make a decision in a vacuum, it must be made aware of the underlying facts. Chandler v. State, 534 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1988). Booth, does not preclude the admission of evidence regarding a victim's personal characteristics when relevant to the defendant's personal responsibility and moral guilt. 482 U.S. 507 n.10. Gathers, allows admission of a victim's personal characteristics when relevant to the circumstances of the crime or the defendant's moral culpability. Id. at 2210. Booth and Gathers have little

applicability in the guilt phase, particularly in <u>voir dire</u> where jurors with knowledge of the case are dismissed. <u>See</u>, <u>Smith v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S81 (Fla. Feb. 15, 1990). That the victim was elderly or unable to defend herself would certainly be relevant in the penalty phase as demonstrating the heinous, atrocious and cruel nature of the crime and in upholding the finding of that aggravating factor this court considered such, even comparing other cases involving elderly or frail victims. <u>Johnston</u>, 497 So.2d at 871. Judge Powell was correct in finding that such statements were not true "victim impact" statements.

Х. CLAIM THATTHE SENTENCING THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO FIND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES VIOLATED THE EIGHTH **AMENDMENT** DEMONSTRATED THAT THE AND SIMILARLY CONSIDERATION JURY'S WAS CONSTRAINED IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Johnston alleges that the sentencing judge in this case found that no mitigating circumstances should be considered because they were not of sufficient weight. Finding three aggravating circumstances the court imposed death. Johnston court's conclusion that no mitigating the that circumstances were to be considered is belied by the record as nonstatutory mitigating circumstances statutory and reflected in the trial and sentencing record and the state did not contest the mitigating evidence. Johnston acknowledges having raised this issue on direct appeal but argues this court should reconsider its decision based on Hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 According to Johnston, S.Ct. 1821 (1987).unconstitutionally restricted its consideration of the mental health mitigating evidence because it was reasonably not convinced the evidence was sufficient to fit within the pertinent statutory category and did not consider such evidence The court is said to have implicitly nonstatutory mitigation. found the same as to the remaining categories. The evidence offered in support of the statutory mitigating circumstance that the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder was that he had an argument with his fiance and was angry with a person who had been arrested for shoplifting in the convenience store where she

was working an hour or two before the murder. Evidence offered in support of the statutory mitigating circumstance that the capacity to conform one's conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired at the time of the killing was that Johnston had earlier been diagnosed as schizophrenic; that he had been admitted to mental institutions on a great number of occasions as he was growing up; that he was given to tremendous mood swings on occasions and that he told one of the officers that he had been drinking alcoholic beverages and taking LSD prior to the killing. The sentencing order reflects that the judge also considered other evidence offered relating to the Johnston, character of the defendant: Mrs. Corrine stepmother, testified that he was the product of a broken home; was abused, neglected and rejected by his natural mother; was physically abused by his father several times; his father's death when he was eighteen years old greatly affected him; he has a very low IQ, did not do well in school and was mentally disturbed despite the mental health treatment he had received (R 2413-14). Johnston complains that this nonstatutory mitigating evidence was ignored as well.

On direct appeal Johnston complained that the mitigating circumstances enumerated in section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes (1983), are vague and overbroad as the qualifying adjectives used to describe the circumstances unconstitutionally limit the mitigating factors to be considered and foster an arbitrary application. (Initial Brief of Appellant, p.17). He further complained that there were at least four mitigating circumstances

that should have been recognized by the court that supported a sentence of life imprisonment: extreme mental or emotional disturbance based on LSD usage, schizophrenia, child abuse; age based on immaturity; and abuse and institutionalizations as nonstatutory mitigation. (Id. Pgs. 99-103). This court specifically held:

The trial court has broad discretion in determining the applicability of the various mitigating circumstances, long as all of the evidence and all of mitigating circumstances properly considered. As indicated by the sentencing order and the complete record of this case, the trial court fulfilled its obligation to consider all evidence and all of the mitigating circumstances. Nevertheless, choose to address appellant's contention that four mitigating circumstances apply to his case.

Appellant cites several factors to support his contention that the capital felony was committed while he was under the influence of extreme mental and disturbance, section emotional 921.141(6)(b), Florida Statutes (1983), and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law substantially impaired. §921.141(6)(f), Fla.Stat. (1983). support of both of these mitigating circumstances, appellant cites to his own admission that he took L.S.D. on the night of the murder and that he suffered from mental disorders. The trial court did not err in refusing to find that the taking of L.S.D. warrants mitigation in light of the fact that Johnston gave numerous statements full discrepancies, and, in short, credibility was rightfully questioned. Although evidence does exist to support finding of mitigation pursuant to section 921.141(6)(b) and (f), the trial court properly considered all of the

evidence, including past mental disorders, and did not err in failing to find that Johnston's actions reached the level required to find mitigation under subsections (6)(b)and (f). The trial court's finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence.

Johnston's age, twenty-three years at the time of the murder, does not warrant a finding of age as a mitigating factor. §921.141(6)(g). Additionally, the trial court did not err in failing to find that appellant's history of being abused by his parents rose to the level of a non-statutory mitigating circumstance.

## Johnston, 497 So.2d at 871.

Johnston subsequently advanced the argument he now makes in his motion to vacate judgment and sentence below. Judge Powell properly decided that the issue was raised and determined adversely to Johnston on appeal. He indicated in, any event, that he did consider the mitigating evidence offered but found it insufficient to outweigh the aggravating factors. He further indicated that he considered all of the mental health and deprived background evidence in the record before sentencing Johnston. After reconsidering this evidence and further considering the evidence at the evidentiary hearing, which he felt was in the main derogatory and not beneficial, Judge Powell was still of the view that death was the appropriate sentence (R1 1688).

The claim that a sentencing court refused to find mitigating circumstances supported by the record is procedurally barred where it was raised on direct appeal and is not cognizable on Rule 3.850 when it was not so raised, as such claim should be

properly raised by 3.850 motion. Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So.2d 1165, 1166 n.1(12) (Fla. 1989). A pure Hitchcock claim has been described as one in which efforts to introduce nonstatutory mitigating evidence were thwarted or both the judge and the jury were under the impression that nonstatutory mitigating evidence could not be considered. Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244, 1247 (Fla. 1989). Where the jury is properly instructed concerning nonstatutory mitigating evidence and there is no indication that the judge did not properly consider the nonstatutory mitigating evidence in his decision there is no Hitchcock claim. Preston v. State, 528 So.2d 896, 899 (Fla. 1988). In the present case the jury was specifically instructed that they could consider in mitigation "Any aspect of Johnston's character or record or any circumstance of the offense." (R 1218). This instruction is sufficient under Hitchcock. Jackson v. State, 530 So.2d 269, 273 (Fla. 1988). Judge Powell's sentencing order clearly indicates that he did consider all of the evidence presented, statutory and nonstatutory, in mitigation, (R 2414) contrary to Johnston's distortion of Judge Powell's language in the sentencing order. No where in such order does Judge Powell indicate he would not consider something in mitigation because it did not outweigh the aggravating factors or that he only considered evidence in the context of statutory mitigators. There being no Hitchcock claim there is no reason for revisiting an issue fully litigated on appeal.

The claim that even though the evidence concerning Johnston's mental and emotional condition did not rise to the

level of statutory mitigating circumstances, had it again been considered in a nonstatutory context the jury would have found it sufficient to recommend against death and the judge would have accepted the jury's recommendation is absurd in an event. See Booker v. Dugger, 520 So.2d 246, 249 (Fla. 1988). Even the most horrible background does not call for a life sentence when it is not connected in a causal way to the crime and the statutory mental mitigating factors embody such causality. Factors outside of that pertaining to mental status have little mitigating force. Even upon reconsideration Judge Powell would sentence Johnston to death (R 1 1688). It is also clear that this court on direct review considered all potentially mitigating circumstances. See, White v. Dugger, 523 So.2d 140, 141 (Fla. 1988).

XI. THE CLAIM THAT THE SHIFTING OF THE BURDEN OF PROOF IN THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS AT SENTENCING DEPRIVED JOHNSTON OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION AS WELL AS HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Johnston cites State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), as demanding that a capital sentencing jury be told that the state establish the existence of one must ormore aggravating circumstances before the death penalty can be imposed and that such sentence could be given if the state showed the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. alleges that in this case the burden was shifted to him on the question of whether he should live or die in violation of Hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 S.Ct. 1821 (1987), and Maynard v. Cartwright, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988), which requires that a jury be instructed in accordance with eighth amendment principles which forbids a court from injecting misleading and irrelevant factors into the sentencing determination. Johnston further alleges that the judge's sentencing order reflects that he only considered mitigation to the extent that it outweighed aggravation, as does his order denying 3.850 relief. Johnston recognizes that the Supreme Court held in Walton v. Arizona, 110 S.Ct. 3047 (1990), that the Eighth Amendment does not preclude a state from placing the burden on the defendant to prove mitigation outweighs aggravation but argues that Florida law requires the aggravation to outweigh the mitigation, citing Arango v. State, 411 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1982). In the present case the jury was instructed as follows:

... However, it is your duty to follow the law that will now be given to you by the Court and render to the Court an sentence based advisory upon determination as to whether sufficient exist aggravating circumstances justify the imposition of the death sufficient penalty, and whether mitigating circumstances exist outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist. (R 1215).

If you find the aggravating circumstances don't justify the death penalty, your advisory sentence should be one of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for 25 years.

Should you find sufficient aggravating circumstances do exist, it will then be your duty to determine whether mitigating circumstances exist that outweigh the aggravating circumstances. (R 1217).

Now, each aggravating circumstance must be established beyond a reasonable doubt before it may be considered by you in arriving at your decision. If one or more aggravating circumstances established, you should consider all the evidence tending to establish one or more mitigating circumstances, and give that evidence such weight as you feel it reaching your should receive in to the sentence conclusion as should be imposed.

A mitigating circumstance need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt by the defendant. If you are reasonably convinced that a mitigating circumstance exists, you may consider it as established.

The sentence that you recommend to the Court must be based on the facts as you find them, from the evidence and from the law. You should weigh the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances. And your advisory sentence must be based on these considerations. (R 1218).

The procedure to be followed by the jury isn't a mere counting process of the number of aggravating circumstances and the number of mitigating circumstances, but rather a reasonable

judgment as to which factual situation requires the imposition of death and which can be satisfied by life imprisonment in light of the totality of the circumstances present. (R 1219).

At the conclusion of the Sentence of Death; Findings in Support Thereof and Advisement of Right to Appeal the trial judge concluded "In summary, I find that three aggravating factors exist and no mitigating factors exist which would outweigh them; consequently, under the evidence and the law of this State a sentence of death is mandated." (R 2414). No objection was made to the jury instructions as given (R 1161-1164; 1215-1222) or to the sentencing order. This claim was not raised on direct appeal.

This court has consistently held that this claim is not cognizable in a Rule 3.850 proceeding. Roberts v. State, 15 F.L.W. S450 (Fla. Sept. 6, 1990); Bolender v. Dugger, 564 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1990); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Hill v. Dugger, 556 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1990); Parker v. Dugger, 550 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1989); Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1989); and Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). Roberts and Correll both involve situations in which the court found a claim involving the sentencing order to be procedurally barred. This claim is, clearly, procedurally barred. Since Walton authorizes the placing of the burden on the defendant to prove mitigation outweighs aggravation, no eighth amendment claim is present and the question is solely one of whether state law was followed. The issue could clearly have been raised at trial and on direct appeal on the basis of Arango.

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